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Proposed application for strategic housing development on lands at
Priorsland located between the townlands of Carrickmines Great and
Brennanstown, within the Cherrywood SDZ, Carrickmines, Dublin 18

Dear Mr Sadler

On 31 July 2020, our mutual client, 1 Carrickmines Land Limited, made a request to An Bord
Pleanala (the “Board”) to enter into consultation in relation to proposed strategic housing
development on lands at Priorsland located between the townlands of Carrickmines Great and
Brennanstown, Carrickmines, Dublin 18 (Board ref. TC06D.307784). The lands are located within the
Cherrywood strategic development zone (“SDZ”), introduced by the Planning and Development
Act 2000 (Strategic Development Zone: Cherrywood, Dian Laoghaire-Rathdown County) Order 2010
(SI No. 535 of 2010).

On 26 January 2021, the Board issued notice of its opinion under section 6(7)(b) of the Planning and
Development (Housing) and Residential Tenancies Act 2016 (the “2016 Act”) that the documents
submitted with the request require further consideration and amendment to constitute a reasonable
basis for an application for SHD.

By virtue of the transition provision within section 17(2) of the Planning and Development (Large
Scale Residential Developments) Act 2021 (the “2021 Act”), as a person that has been issued with
such an opinion, our mutual client may proceed to apply for permission for SHD in accordance with
the 2016 Act.

Barry Devereux (Managing Partner), Catherine Deane (Chair), Terence McCrann, Roderick Bourke, Niall Powderly, Kevin Kelly,
Hilary Marren, Eamonn O’Hanrahan, Helen Kilroy, Judith Lawless, James Murphy, David Lydon, David Byers, Colm Fanning,
Paul Lavery, Alan Fuller, Michelle Doyle, Hugh Beattie, Fergus Gillen, Valerie Lawlor, Mark White, Rosaleen Byrne, Eamon de Valera,
Joe Fay, Ben Gaffikin, Donal O Raghallaigh, Karyn Harty, Philip Andrews, Barrett Chapman, Mary Brassil, Audrey Byrne, Shane Fahy,
Georgina O'Riordan, Adrian Farrell, Michael Murphy, Aidan Lawlor, Darragh Murphy, Brian Quigley, Conor O’Dwyer, Stephen FitzSimons,
David Hurley, Philip Murphy, Fiona O’Beirne, Garreth O’Brien, Gary McSharry, Alan Heuston, Josh Hogan, Richard Leonard, Rory O’Malley,
Lisa Smyth, Brendan Slattery, Tom Dane, Catherine Derrig, Megan Hooper, Shane Sweeney, Adam Finlay, lain Ferguson, Jennifer Halpin,
Stuart McCarron, Stephen Proctor, Michael Coonan, Stephen Holst, Emily Mac Nicholas, Brendan Murphy, Shane O’Brien, Eamon O Cuiv,
Eleanor Cunningham, Gill Lohan, Ciara Ryan, Niall Best, Richard Gill, Douglas McMahon, Laura Treacy, Laura Deignan, Stephen Fuller,
Niall McDowell, John Neeson, David O’Dea, Orlaith Sheehy.

Consultants: Catherine Austin, Deirdre Barnicle, Sean Barton, Ambrose Loughlin, Eleanor MacDonagh (fca), Lonan McDowell, Anna Moran,
Peter Osborne, Tony Spratt (Aca).

DUBLIN * BRUSSELS * LONDON * NEW YORK



McCANN FITZGERALD

Three issues arise.
The first issue relates to unit numbers.

At the time of the request to enter consultation, the proposed development comprised 1,180 no.
Build to Rent apartments, créche and associated site works.

In its section 6(7) opinion, the Board highlighted issues for attention relating to the Cherrywood
SDZ Planning Scheme, including “consistency with the planning scheme”.

The significance of that requirement is clear from the High Court judgment in Dublin City Council v
An Bord Pleandla [2020] IEHC 557. The judgment was delivered on 12 November 2020, after your
request for consultation.

The case, as here, concerned an application for SHD on lands located within an SDZ. The court
concluded that:

“the Oireachtas has given a developer the option of applying either directly to the council
with no appeal under normal SDZ rules or directly to the board under SHD rules. A
conclusion that the board has no jurisdiction to depart from the planning scheme is in my
view consistent with there being such an option in s. 4(4) of the 2016 Act, because it would
be totally inconsistent and illogical if fundamentally different rules applied at the whim of
the developer making the application. In a normal SDZ application the council is bound by
the planning scheme (see s. 170(2) of the 2000 Act). It would be illogical to simply give an
option that would fundamentally change the outcome, which would be the result if the
board did in fact have jurisdiction to depart from the scheme.”

Put simply, even where the application is made for SHD under the 2016 Act, the proposed
development must be “consistent” with the relevant planning scheme. The Board’s opinion under
section 6(7) properly highlighted that amendment to the proposed development would be required
to ensure compliance with the scheme.

For this purpose, our mutual client has made the necessary amendment. The scheme now comprises
443 no. residential units only and the reason for that reduction is to ensure consistency with the
planning scheme.

That being so, you have asked us to consider whether our mutual client is free to reduce unit
numbers, in this way, before making an application for SHD permission.

The answer must be yes.

Indeed, the High Court has accepted that an applicant for SHD permission may increase the number
of units for which permission is sought from the number described during the pre-application
consultation: O’Neill & anor v An Bord Pleanala [2020] IEHC 356. The reason given by the court was
that section 6(7) of the 2016 Act “expressly envisages that there may well be differences between the
development as originally proposed at the time of the pre-planning consultation and the
development which is subsequently pursued by way of an application under s.4” (paragraph 106).
The same logic applies with equal force to a reduction.

As explained in O’Neill (at paragraph 119), the answer might change where the proposed
development in the application for SHD permission “was wholly different to the application
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discussed (and in respect of which an opinion was issued) under s.6 and where the difference was not
attributable to a recommendation made by the Board during the consultation process” (emphasis added).

Even if the reduction to unit numbers might, to some observers, first appear significant, the
important point is that this reduction was required to ensure consistency with the planning scheme.
This requirement for amendment to ensure consistency was expressed by the Board in its opinion
under section 6(7) of the 2016 Act, and respects the High Court decision in the Dublin City Council
case. The difference is attributable to a recommendation made by the Board during the consultation
process.

Put simply, our mutual client was required to amend, and was not free to simply submit an
application for the 1,180 unit scheme regardless.

The second issue relates to the description of the proposed units as “Build to Rent” during the
consultation with the Board.

The intended application will not describe the proposed units as “Build to Rent”. Accordingly, the
additional design flexibility for such units under section 5 of the section 28 guidelines for planning
authorities on “Sustainable Urban Housing: Design Standards for New Apartments” (published
March 2018 and revised December 2020) is not available for the scheme.

Although the judgment in O’Neill does not deal with this precise change, the court did agree there
was no difficulty with an increase in unit numbers and with the omission of all three-bed units.
It appears to us that the proposed change from “Build to Rent” is less significant or material than
those differences in O’Neill, which were considered lawful.

The third issue relates to the intermediate planning history.

On 23 July 2021, our mutual client made an application for permission to the planning authority
under section 34 of the Planning and Development Act 2000, as amended (the “2000 Act”) (Council
ref. DZ21A/0677). That application was refused permission by the planning authority on
15 September 2021. No appeal to the Board is allowed. The validity of the decision of the planning
authority has been questioned by way of judicial review in proceedings bearing the title
1 Carrickmines Limited v. Dun Laoghaire Rathdown County Council and record number 2021 932JR.
Leave has been granted and the proceedings have been adjourned to allow the planning authority to
consider the matter.

The fact an application was made and refused on these same lands is wholly irrelevant to the
process under the 2016 Act and the transitional provision at section 17 of the 2021 Act, and does not
prevent our mutual client from making the intended application for SHD permission.

Yours sincerely

(sent by email, so bears no signature)

Brendan Slattery
McCann FitzGerald LLP

Direct Dial: +353 1 511 1672
Email: brendan.slattery@mccannfitzgerald.com
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